IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

THE FLORIDA BAR,	
Complainant,	Case No. SC07-863
v.	Case No. 3C07-803
	TFB File No. 2004-01,364(1B)
SHERRY GRANT HALL,	
Respondent.	

THE FLORIDA BAR'S INITIAL BRIEF

Olivia Paiva Klein, Bar Counsel The Florida Bar 651 E. Jefferson Street Tallahassee, FL 32399-2300 (850) 561-5845 Florida Bar No. 970247

Kenneth Lawrence Marvin, Staff Counsel The Florida Bar 651 E. Jefferson Street Tallahassee, Florida 32399-2300 (850) 561-5600 Florida Bar No. 200999

John F. Harkness, Jr., Executive Director The Florida Bar 651 E. Jefferson Street Tallahassee, Florida 32399-2300 (850) 561-5600 Florida Bar No. 123390

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

Complainant, THE FLORIDA BAR, will be referred to as "The Florida Bar" throughout the Initial Brief.

Respondent, SHERRY GRANT HALL, will be referred to as "Respondent".

References to the Transcript for Final Hearing on October 20-21, 2008, shall be designated as "TFH" with the appropriate volume and page number, i.e., "TFH-12, Vol. I or Vol. II."

References to the Transcript for the Penalty Hearing on November 4, 2008, shall be designated as "TPH" with the appropriate page number, i.e., "TPH-12."

References to the Rules Regulating The Florida Bar shall be designated as "Rule" with the appropriate number, i.e., "Rule 4-1.3" or as "Rules."

References to the Florida Standards for Imposing Lawyer Sanctions shall be designated as "Standard" or "Standards" with the appropriate number, i.e., Standard 7.1.

References to the "Report of Referee" dated November 20, 2008, shall be designated as "ROR" followed by the appropriate number, i.e., "ROR-12."

References to the Florida Bar's Exhibits shall be designated as "TFB Exhibit" followed by the appropriate number, i.e., "TFB Exhibit-12."

References to Respondent's Exhibits shall be designated as "R Exhibit" followed by the appropriate number, i.e., "R Exhibit-12."

References to all other pleadings and documents will be designated by their appropriate title in the record, i.e., Complaint, Motion for Summary Judgment, etc.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On May 7, 2007, The Florida Bar filed its Complaint with the Florida Supreme Court. Respondent's counsel filed a Notice of Appearance on June 20, 2007, and an Answer to the Complaint with Affirmative Defenses on June 25, 2007. The referee held a Telephonic Case Management Conference with the parties' counsel and issued an Order on Telephonic Case Management conference on July 18, 2007.

The parties engaged in discovery from August 2, 2007 through October 22, 2007. The referee held a second telephonic case status conference with the parties' counsel on December 13, 2007. From January 2, 2008 through July 16, 2008, the parties' counsel continued to set numerous depositions of the witnesses listed in the discovery responses. On May 13, 2008, the referee held a telephonic hearing on an Objection to a Deposition Subpoena Duces Tecum and issued an Order on June 16, 2008, instructing what documents should be produced by the witness. The referee held telephonic case status conferences on August 22, 2008, and on September 2, 2008.

On September 9, 2008, The Florida Bar personally served a Second Set of Interrogatories and a Second Request for Production of Documents on Respondent that were answered on October 13, 2008. The parties set depositions of expert witnesses on October 8, 2008. The Florida Bar took the deposition of a lay witness and an expert

witness on October 15, 2008, and October 17, 2008, respectively. On October 17, 2008, Respondent filed a Motion in Limine with the referee.

The referee held a final hearing in Shalimar, Florida, on October 20-21, 2008. The referee held a telephonic case management conference on October 27, 2008, to finalize a penalty hearing date. On October 30, 2008, Respondent submitted a Witness List for Sanctions Hearing to the Referee. On October 31, 2008, the referee held a telephonic case management conference to discuss Respondent's witness list. A final penalty hearing was held on November 4, 2008, in Panama City, Florida. The Florida Bar filed its Affidavit of Costs on November 7, 2008.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

The referee made the following findings of fact in this disciplinary case:

In late 2000, Respondent, Sherry Hall, approached Irving and Clara Godwin, property owners in Walton County, about leasing a portion of their pasture for her horses. After negotiations, Respondent went to visit the Godwins, bringing with her a pre-prepared lease agreement for a portion of the land. On January 21, 2001, the lease agreement was signed. At the time of the signing at the Godwins' home, the parties discussed the possibility of the Godwins selling the pasture land as well as the remaining portions of the property to Respondent. After some discussion, and brief notes to herself, Respondent wrote an addendum on the lease which was then signed by the Godwins, Respondent, and a witness. Two copies were prepared and signed by all parties and the Godwins kept a copy with the handwritten addendum and Respondent retained a fully signed copy without the addendum. Respondent kept the notes for the addendum and the signed lease in a file at her home. ROR-3-4.

The handwritten addendum to the original Lease Agreement stated:

Hall and Godwin agreed that Hall would obtain an appraisal, at her costs [sic], by the end of March. The parties will thereafter **negotiate an agreement** for Hall to purchase the pasture, mobile home park, and the Godwin residence, with time frames for such purchase to be at the election of

Godwin and to be specified, along with this specific price(s), and a contract to be executed by those parties subsequent to this lease. ROR-4

Respondent received an appraisal of \$83,000 for the property and offered to purchase the property from the Godwins which was refused. Later, the Godwins obtained an appraisal for a higher amount which Respondent refused to pay. Respondent continued to contact the Godwins to sell her the property over the next several months. After another year of communication to the Godwins and to realtors involved in attempting to sell the property, Respondent continued to insist she had an agreement to purchase the property as opposed to an agreement to negotiate a price for the property. ROR-4-5.

Eventually, Respondent sent a letter on February 21, 2003, attaching a document entitled "Lease Agreement and *Agreement for Sale*," purportedly signed on January 21, 2001, supposedly signed by the Godwins, Respondent and Joseph Grant who had witnessed the original lease document. Respondent recorded the fraudulent Lease Agreement and Agreement for Sale in the Walton County Clerk's Office on December 12, 2002, which had an added typed paragraph stating the parties shall thereafter "negotiate a time for *conveyance* of the property to Respondent and adding the words an <u>Agreement for Sale</u> to the first page of the document. ROR-5.

Three forensic document examiners reviewed the Lease and Agreement for Sale document with the typed language changed from the hand-written language and all concluded that signatures of Mr. and Mrs. Godwin, and the witness were forged, and that Respondent's signature was genuine. One of the document examiners felt that there were possible signs of excluding Respondent from having forged the documents and another stated there were possible signs including her as possibly having forged the other three signatures. Respondent was charged by the State Attorney's Office with two felonies, grand theft and uttering a forged instrument in reference to the fraudulent recording of the Lease Agreement and Agreement for Sale. ROR-5-6.

On August 21, 2006, Respondent entered into a Deferred Prosecution Agreement in which she agreed among other things to (1) quit claim any interest in the property of Irving or Clara Godwin to give them clear title of the property within 48 hours of signing the agreement, (2) to pay restitution to the Godwins of \$15,000, (3) to acknowledge in writing that the existing lease between Respondent and the Godwins was null and void, (4) to vacate the pastureland and to relinquish any rights she might have had under the lease, (5) to execute any documents necessary to eliminate any cloud on the title to the Godwins' property resulting from the lease, and (6) to ensure that all sub-tenants or other persons occupying the pasture under Respondent's lease

would vacate the property. ROR-6.

On September 7, 2006, the charges were dismissed against Respondent because she had complied with the terms and conditions of the Deferred Prosecution Agreement. The Florida Bar Complaint against Respondent charged her with violation of rules Regulating the Florida Bar 3-4.3 Misconduct, 4-1.7(b) Conflict of Interest General Rule 2005, 4-1.8(a), 4-1.8(b) Conflict of Interest Prohibiting Transactions, 4-1.9(b) Conflict of Interest Former Client, this is on 13 of the Complaint, 4-1.16 Declining or Terminating Representation, 4-8.1 Bar Admission Disciplinary Matters, 4-8.4(c) Misrepresentation and 4-8.4(d) Conduct Prejudicial to the Administration of Justice. ROR-7

The Bar convinced the referee by clear and convincing evidence that Respondent violated rule 4-8.4(c) and the other violations were either withdrawn or inapplicable to this case. ROR-7.

The referee found that Respondent changed the title of the document from Lease to Lease and Agreement for Sale and added additional language to the lease, In these days of computers, it would have been impossible for Respondent to take the signed agreement back to her office and make it "look good" by typing in the language. A signed and fully executed agreement could not have had a paragraph added without

either handwriting it, or with the use of a typewriter. The changed Lease and Agreement for Sale was prepared again by computer with a changed title and a changed addendum and three forged signatures. ROR-7.

The referee found a violation of Rule 4-8.4(c)(A lawyer shall not engage in conduct involving dishonesty, fraud, deceit or misrepresentation) The referee based her finding of this rule violation on the fact that Respondent admitted that she **deliberately** and intentionally changed the title of the documents and that she intentionally changed the language from the handwritten addendum to the printed language. [Emphasis added] ROR-8. Not only did the referee find that this made a substantial change in the content of the document, but stated that Respondent made these changes for her own benefit. [Emphasis added]. Respondent testified that since her signature was genuine on the forged document, she must have signed it in the process of signing multiple other documents and did not realize what she had done and that some unnamed person in her office must have forged the other three signatures. The referee found this testimony "incredulous" since there was no benefit for office staff to have forged the signatures. [Emphasis added]. ROR-8. Additionally, Respondent stated that she did not have a regular assistant to do clerical work for her but the lawyers did their own typing, and in fact, she had prepared this agreement on her home computer,

she did not have a file in the office, and 90-95% of her legal work was performed at home. ROR-8.

The witness Joseph Grant, as well as Mrs. Godwin, testified that the hand-written language placed on the document she retained, was also added to the second document retained by Respondent. Although there was no proof beyond a reasonable doubt that Respondent actually forged the signatures, there is no doubt that Respondent's signature was genuine and that was a factor to be considered. A fraud was committed when Respondent changed the name of the document and changed the language from the original document. ROR-9.

The referee also considered aggravating and mitigating factors under Standards 9.22 and 9.32 respectively. In aggravation, the referee found that a troubling aspect of this case is that Respondent attempted by means of numerous letters, phone calls, and visits to the Godwins to achieve her goal of purchasing the property at a price she desired to pay. Further, Respondent did not notify anyone of the changed terms in the second Lease Agreement and Agreement for Sale until February 2003 and continued to insist that she had an agreement to purchase the property not merely what could be considered as a possible option to purchase. ROR-10.

In mitigation, the referee found an absence of prior disciplinary history, and

Respondent was well-respected in her community as an honest, hardworking loyal friend involved in numerous community and church activities to the betterment of others. ROR-10.

Relying on Standard 7.2 and the aggravating and mitigation evidence presented, the referee found that a 90-day suspension would be appropriate for Respondent's misconduct. ROR-9.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The Florida Bar does not challenge the findings of fact by the referee, but solely the referee's recommendation of a 90-day nonrehabilitative disciplinary sanction. The referee found that Respondent had engaged in deliberate and intentional misconduct including fraud and misrepresentation, for her own benefit. Generally, the Court has imposed disbarment on attorneys who deliberately and intentionally violate Rule 4-Standard 7.1 states that "Disbarment is appropriate when an attorney 8.4(c). intentionally engages in conduct that is a violation of a duty owed as a professional with intent to obtain a benefit for the lawyer,... and causes serious or potentially serious injury to a client, the public, or the legal system.". The referee, relying on Standard 7.1, stated in her report that, despite The Florida Bar's recommendation of disbarment at the final penalty hearing, she had considered "aggravation and mitigation" pursuant to the Standards and found that a suspension from the practice of law for a period of ninety (90) days would be appropriate for Hall's misconduct." ROR-9.

The Florida Bar contends that while the mitigation considered by the referee might reduce a recommendation of disbarment to a suspension, it should not reduce a possible disbarment sanction to a nonrehabilitative 90-day suspension.

Respondent deliberately and intentionally engaged in felonious conduct, creating a fraudulent document and recording it with the Walton County Clerk's Office. The recording of the document put a cloud on the title of the Godwins' property and prevented them from selling it, requiring the Godwins to hire counsel to represent them in the dispute. Respondent was charged with forging and uttering a forged instrument by the State Attorney's Office and entered into a Deferred Prosecution Agreement that resulted in the charges being dismissed. The referee found as an aggravating factor that Respondent attempted through numerous contacts, letters, phone calls, and visits to the Godwins to achieve her goal of purchasing the property at a price Respondent wanted to pay. ROR-10. The referee also found as an aggravating factor that Respondent did not notify anyone of the changed terms of the lease agreement until February 2003. Further Respondent continuously misrepresented to third parties that she had a contract for sale, when she knew, or should have known as an attorney, that she had only negotiated an option to purchase the Godwins' property. ROR-10.

Even taking into account the mitigation considered by the referee, this Court should impose a three-year rehabilitative suspension as an appropriate disciplinary sanction under the Florida Standards for Imposing Lawyer Sanctions and the prevailing case law.

ARGUMENT

ISSUE I

THE COURT SHOULD IMPOSE A THREE-YEAR SUSPENSION AS AN APPROPRIATE DISCIPLINE UNDER THE FLORIDA LAWYER STANDARDS AND RELEVANT CASE LAW.

The Florida Bar contends that the referee's recommendation of a 90-day suspension is not reasonable under the Florida Standards for Imposing Lawyer Sanctions and the relevant case law. The Florida Bar v. Temmer, 753 So.2d 555, 558 (Fla. 1999). The referee's report is replete with findings of fact that warrant a higher discipline of a three-year rehabilitative suspension rather than the 90-day nonrehabilitative suspension recommended by the referee. The Court's scope of review as to the referee's recommended discipline is broader than that afforded to the referee's findings of fact because it is the final arbiter of the appropriate disciplinary sanction. The Florida Bar v. Miller, 863 so. 2d 231, 234 (Fla. 2003). The Court will not second-guess a referee's recommended discipline as long as there is a reasonable basis in the case law and it comports with the Florida Standards for Imposing Lawyer Even given the mitigation evidence presented by Respondent and considered by the referee, the Florida Standards for Imposing Lawyer Sanctions and the case law support The Florida Bar's contention that a three-year rehabilitative suspension is an appropriate disciplinary sanction.

The referee found that Respondent "recorded the fraudulent Lease Agreement and Agreement for Sale in the Walton County Clerk's Office on December 12, 2002, which had an added typed paragraph stating the parties shall thereafter 'negotiate a time for the conveyance of the property' to Hall and adding the words an Agreement for Sale to the first page of the document." ROR-5. The referee found that Respondent changed the title of the document from Lease to Lease and Agreement for Sale and added additional language to the lease. ROR-7 See also TFB Exhibits-1, 2, and 3.

In her rationale to support her finding Respondent in violation of Rule 4-8.4(c), the referee determined that a fraud was committed when the name of the document was changed and the language was changed from the original document. ROR-9. The referee noted that Respondent "admitted that she deliberately and intentionally changed the title of the document and that she intentionally changed the language from the handwritten addendum to the printed language. [Emphasis added] ROR-8. The referee found that this change in the language made "a substantial change in the content of the document and Hall did this for her own benefit." [Emphasis added] ROR-8. Respondent testified that she had prepared the forged document on her home

computer, that she did 90-95% of her work at home, and she had no regular office staff to assist her. ROR-8. Based on this testimony, the Referee found Respondent's testimony "incredulous" when she denied intentionally signing the forged document which contained her genuine signature and tried to blame an unnamed office assistant for forging the three signatures on the fraudulent lease agreement. ROR-8. The Florida Bar contends that the above findings of fact by the referee warrant a higher discipline than a nonerehabilitative 90-day suspension under the Florida Standards Imposing Lawyer Sanctions and the prevailing case law.

It is a well established maxim that a disciplinary sanction must serve three purposes:

First, the judgment must be fair to society, both in terms of protecting the public from unethical conduct and at the same time not denying the public the services of a qualified lawyer as a result of undue harshness in imposing the penalty. Second, the judgment must be fair to the respondent, being sufficient to punish a breach of ethics and at the same time encourage reformation and rehabilitation. Third, the judgment must be severe enough to deter others who might be prone or tempted to become involved in like violations. The Florida Bar v. Brake, 767 So.2d 1163, 1169 (Fla. 2000). See also, The Florida Bar v. Lord, 433 So.2d 983, 986 (Fla. 1983); The Florida Bar v. Pahules, 233 So.2d 130, 132 (Fla. 1970).

The referee's recommendation of a 90-day suspension is not fair to society, is not sufficient to punish the breach of ethics, and would not serve to deter others from being involved in similar misconduct.

On the other hand, a three-year suspension does meet the threefold purposes of a disciplinary sanction. First, it would protect the public and is not unduly harsh under the findings of fact and circumstances of this case. Second, it is fair to the Respondent because it punishes a serious breach of ethics while encouraging rehabilitation. Lastly, a three-year suspension is severe enough to deter others from a similar violation of the ethical rules.

In this case, Respondent intentionally and fraudulently altered a legal document and knowing it was a fraudulent document, recorded it with the Walton County Clerk's Office. Respondent deliberately and intentionally tried to obtain the Godwins' property by insisting to the Godwins and third parties that she had a legal right to purchase the property when she knew, or should have known as an attorney, that the intent of the parties was to enter into an option to purchase. While there is no direct proof that Respondent forged the signatures on the document, the Referee found that Respondent composed the document on her home computer and her signature on the fraudulent agreement was genuine while all the other signatures were forged. The

referee found that the fraudulent Lease Agreement and Agreement for Sale was prepared by a computer with a changed title and a changed addendum and three forged signatures. ROR-7 No one else had the motive or opportunity to forge the Godwins' and Joseph Grant's signatures on the fraudulent Lease Agreement and Agreement for Sale, but Respondent who would benefit personally from the fraudulent conveyance.

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