IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

THE FLORIDA BAR,

Case No.: SC07-863

Complainant,

TFB File No.: 2004-01,364(1B)

v.

SHERRY GRANT HALL,

Respondent.

RESPONDENT'S ANSWER BRIEF

LOIS B. LEPP Florida Bar No.: 855634 MELISSA CONDON ONACKI Florida Bar No.: 808741 Lois B. Lepp, P.A. 902 East Gadsden Street Pensacola, Florida 32501 (850) 435-1090 Attorneys for Respondent

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The Referee's recommendation of a 90-day non-rehabilitative suspension should be upheld because it is supported by the record, the Standards, and existing case law and meets the purposes of discipline. Therefore, this Court should impose the Referee's recommended penalty.

The Referee considered the Bar's request for disbarment or a three-year suspension and properly declined to recommend same or even a rehabilitative suspension of any period. This Court should decline to order a three-year (or any rehabilitative) suspension, as The Florida Bar has not met its burden of establishing that the Referee's recommendation is not supported by the record and existing case law.

ARGUMENT

I. <u>ISSUE I</u>

THE COURT SHOULD UPHOLD THE REFEREE'S RECOMMENDED 90-DAY SUSPENSION AS AN APPROPRIATE SANCTION

A. 90-day Suspension is Appropriate

The Referee's recommended discipline of a 90-day suspension² is appropriate under the facts of this case and is supported by existing case law and the Standards.

This Court should adopt the Referee's recommendation as to discipline.

1. Recommended Penalty has Basis in Existing Case Law

The Court's scope of review as to a referee's recommended discipline is

broader than that afforded to a referee's findings of fact because the Court bears the

ultimate responsibility of ordering the appropriate sanction. The Florida Bar v.

Vining, 721 So. 2d 1164, 1169 (Fla. 1998).

This Court has repeatedly held that it will uphold the recommendation of a

referee, if same has a basis in existing case law.

[T]he referee in a Bar proceeding again occupies a favored vantage point for assessing key considerations – such as a respondent's degree of culpability, and his or her cooperation, forthrightness, remorse and rehabilitation (or potential for rehabilitation). Accordingly, we will not second-guess a referee's recommended discipline as long as that discipline has a reasonable basis in existing case law.

² Plus the taxation of costs in the amount of 20,160.71.

<u>The Florida Bar v. Lecznar</u>, 690 So. 2d 1284, 1288 (Fla. 1997).

[A] referee's recommendation is presumed correct and will be followed if reasonably supported by existing case law and not clearly off the mark." <u>Vining</u>, 721 So. 2d at 1169.

The Referee's recommendation of a 90-day non-rehabilitative suspension for **one** rule violation (Rule 4-8.4(c))³ for a single incident (altering one agreement), related to personal conduct unconnected to the practice of law, is supported by cases which are similar to the case at bar.

a. Non-rehabilitative suspension for violations of Rule 4-8.4(c) unconnected with the practice of law

In <u>The Florida Bar v. Siegel</u>, 511 So. 2d 995 (Fla. 1987), Siegel and another attorney, whose conduct was unconnected with the practice of law, were found guilty of violating three rules (including the predecessor to Rule 4-8.4(c)), for making misrepresentations in the connection with the purchase of a building to be primarily used as law offices. The referee recommended that Siegel be suspended for two weeks. The Florida Bar appealed. This Court found that because the attorneys were found guilty of a deliberate scheme to misrepresent facts in order to

³ Respondent was originally charged by The Florida Bar and proceeded to trial on nine rule violations, eight of which were found to be inapplicable to these facts.

secure full financing of their purchase, a two week suspension was inappropriate. However, this Court found that a 91-day suspension requiring proof of rehabilitation, as argued by The Florida Bar, was not warranted under the circumstances. This Court imposed a 90-day non-rehabilitative suspension.

Similar to the <u>Siegel</u> case, a suspension requiring proof of rehabilitation is neither appropriate nor mandated in the instant case. Respondent, like the attorneys in <u>Siegel</u>, engaged in an isolated incident in a personal transaction unconnected with the practice of law regarding the purchase of real property. At the penalty hearing, Respondent argued that this case did not mandate a rehabilitative sanction and the maximum sanction the Referee should impose in this case was a 90-day non-rehabilitative suspension. TPH-92; TPH-107-108. Respondent has significant mitigating factors. Respondent has been practicing since 1986 (approximately 22 years) without a prior disciplinary history, and Respondent "is well respected in her community as an honest, hard working loyal friend involved in numerous community and church activities to the betterment of others." ROR-10.

In <u>The Florida Bar v. Schultz</u>, 712 So. 2d 386 (Fla. 1998), Schultz was found guilty of three rule violations (including Rule 4-8.4(c)), by intentionally misrepresenting his intention to pay a travel agency for airplane tickets. When the attorney finally gave the travel agency a check to hold, the same day he issued a stop payment on the check evidencing his willful intent. The referee recommended that Schultz be suspended for at least six months and be required to pay the costs of the action and make full restitution to the owner of the travel agency. In making its recommendation, the referee considered Schultz's prior public reprimand as one of four aggravators and found no mitigators. Schultz appealed, arguing that because his was an isolated incident not involving a client, a public reprimand was an appropriate sanction. The Bar argued that Schultz's conduct warranted disbarment. This Court, considering Schultz's previous public reprimand, imposed a 90-day suspension. In light of <u>Schultz</u>, a rehabilitative suspension would be too harsh of a punishment in Respondent's case, given her significant mitigating factors. <u>Schultz</u> also supports the Referee's recommendation of a non-rehabilitative suspension.

This Court may also look to <u>The Florida Bar v. Rose</u>, 607 So. 2d 394 (Fla. 1992) for support that a non-rehabilitative suspension is appropriate. Attorney Rose was found guilty of violating rule 1-102(B)(4) (conduct involving misrepresentation), for endorsing checks made payable to Rose's ex-wife, by signing Rose's ex-wife signature and using the funds from the check which were meant to be held in trust for his minor children for his own personal use. The referee recommended suspension of 30 days. Rose appealed, claiming that the 30-day suspension was too harsh, but this Supreme Court affirmed the referee's

recommendation.

Unlike <u>Rose</u>, there has been no finding that Respondent forged any signatures (although the Bar certainly tries to suggest that such a finding exists); the finding was that the document was fraudulently altered by the changing of the title and language. There is no clear evidence of who placed the signatures of the other parties on the agreement.

As this Court is aware, misconduct occurring outside the practice of law is to be evaluated differently and may warrant less severe sanctions than misconduct committed in the course of the practice of law. <u>The Florida Bar v. Baker</u>, 810 So. 2d 876, 881 (Fla. 2002).⁴ <u>Siegel, Schultz</u>, and <u>Rose</u> support the Referee's recommendation of a 90-day suspension.

b. Non-rehabilitative suspension for violations of Rule 4-8.4(c) for conduct connected with the practice of

⁴ Arguably, a public reprimand was also an appropriate sanction supported by existing case law for a violation of Rule 4-8.4(c); however, the referee ruled that out. <u>See, The Florida Bar v. Bell</u>, 493 So. 2d 457 (Fla. 1986) (attorney who falsely acknowledged and witnessed a deed and other legal documents); <u>The Florida Bar v.</u> <u>Brake</u>, 767 So. 2d 1163 (Fla. 2000) (Personal Representative who defrauded creditors in administration of estate); <u>The Florida Bar v. Davis</u>, 373 So. 2d 683 (Fla.1979) (attorney who personally schemed to obtain \$35,000.00 from a fellow businessman); <u>The Florida Bar v. Hosner</u>, 520 So. 2d 567 (Fla.1988) (attorney failed, for 11 months, to deliver title to vehicle he had sold to a third-party because attorney was using the title as collateral for his own personal loans); and <u>The Florida Bar v. Farinas</u>, 608 So. 2d 22 (Fla. 1992) (attorney had clients' signatures on interrogatories notarized after the fact).

law

In <u>The Florida Bar v. Walker</u>, 672 So. 2d 21 (Fla. 1996), Walker, in connection with the practice of law, executed a doctor's lien letter to a chiropractor informing the chiropractor that he would be paid for his services once the client's case settled. Walker's office misrepresented the status of the case for two years to the chiropractor by advising the chiropractor that there was a case pending. The chiropractor filed a grievance with the Bar, and Walker misrepresented to the Bar that the case had not settled, when in actuality there was no case to settle, as the matter had been resolved by another attorney years before Walker had issued the lien letter. Walker was found guilty of two rule violations (including Rule 4-8.4(c)). Even though Walker had a prior disciplinary history (public reprimand/probation for neglect and improper trust accounting), this Court imposed a 30-day suspension.

In <u>The Florida Bar v. Varner</u>, 780 So. 2d 1 (Fla. 2001), the attorney placed a fictitious case number on a notice of voluntary dismissal (where no lawsuit had ever been filed) and forwarded the notice to an insurance company in order to induce the insurance company to send a settlement check. The referee recommended that Varner be found guilty of two rule violations (including Rule 4-8.4(c)), found no aggravating and three mitigating factors, and recommended Varner be suspended

for 30 days. The Bar appealed, arguing that Varner was guilty of additional rule violations and should receive a 91-day suspension. The Court, finding Varner guilty of the additional rule violations, declined to take the Bar's recommendation and imposed a 90-day suspension.

An attorney who was part of a scheme to fraudulently obtain 100% financing by misrepresenting the purchase price of condominium units, and who violated his obligations as a land trustee for the purchaser, when he closed a real estate transaction for the sellers, who were both his partners and clients, received a 90-day suspension. <u>The Florida Bar v. Nuckolls</u>, 521 So. 2d 1120 (Fla. 1988). The referee had recommended that Nuckolls be suspended for four months. Nuckolls appealed, arguing that a public reprimand was appropriate. In imposing a 90-day nonrehabilitative suspension, this Court took into account Nuckolls argument for mitigation, that he had been practicing for 17 years without prior incident, and that he had served in the Florida House of Representatives for 10 years. <u>Nuckolls</u> is similar to Siegel, in which both attorneys received 90-day suspensions.

Respondent's misconduct is less egregious than Nuckolls'. Respondent's conduct violated only one rule and was not part of a scheme to defraud. Respondent's misconduct was unrelated to the practice of law, whereas Nuckolls' was related. Nuckolls supports the Referee's recommendation that a non-

rehabilitative suspension is appropriate in Respondent's case.

The imposition of a three-year suspension would be unduly harsh, when comparing Respondent's case with <u>Varner</u>, <u>Walker</u> and <u>Nuckolls</u>, all of which merited a 90-day suspension for fraud, deceit, dishonesty or misrepresentation in connection with the practice of law.

2. Recommended Penalty is Supported by Standards for Imposing Lawyer Sanctions

The Referee's application of Standard 7.2 (ROR-9⁵) is incorrect in this case;

Standard 5.1 applies.

Standard 7.0, entitled "Violations of Other Duties Owed as a Professional,"

of which 7.2 is a subpart, provides:

Absent aggravating or mitigating circumstances, and upon application of the factors set out in Standard 3.0, the following sanctions are generally appropriate in cases involving false or misleading communication about the lawyer or the lawyer's services, improper communication of fields of practice, improper solicitation of professional employment from a prospective client, unreasonable or improper fees, unlicensed practice of law, improper withdrawal from representation, or failure to report professional misconduct.

⁵ In its Initial Brief, The Florida Bar properly recites in its Statement of Facts that the Referee relied on Standard 7.2 (suspension) when recommending sanctions. TFB Initial Brief-11. However, The Florida Bar improperly states in its Summary of Argument that the Referee applied Standard 7.1 (disbarment). TFB Initial Brief-12. Respondent's counsel assumes that references to Standard 7.1, in this regard, is a typographical error or an oversight by The Florida Bar.

Standard 7.0 and its subparts are applicable to violations of duties *connected with the practice of law*. The title of the Standard sets forth same– "Duties Owed as a Professional." At both the final hearing and the penalty hearing, the Referee found that Respondent's misconduct was in her individual capacity and not in her professional capacity. TFH-465-66, Vol. II.; TPH-79; TPH-82. The Referee stated Respondent "wasn't acting as a lawyer in these circumstances. She was acting as an individual that [sic] happened to be a lawyer." TPH-82. Even counsel for The Florida Bar admitted at the penalty hearing that "[Respondent] wasn't representing a client." TPH-82.

A review of transcript reveals that the Bar, only after arguing the applicability of Standard 5.1, tried to force Standard 7.0 to fit into the disbarment argument it was then proposing. TPH-67-68. The Florida Bar argued that Standard 7.1 was "involved" in this case, "even though the things they talk about in the first paragraph are different." TPH-67. The first paragraph is 7.0 which sets forth what types of misconduct should be considered under this standard. Essentially, the Bar said 'forget about what kind of misconduct Standard 7.0 states that this is applicable to, apply it anyway.' Respondent's counsel even pointed out to the Referee that the Bar had admitted the inapplicability of Standard 7.0, et. seq. TPH-93-94. When this Court reviews this matter under the Standards, Standard 7.2^{6} should not be applied in this case, as Respondent's misconduct did not occur in the practice of law, and the types of cases listed in Standard 7.0 – misleading communication about the lawyer or the lawyer's services or fields of practice, improper solicitation, unreasonable or improper fees, unlicensed practice of law, improper withdrawal from representation, or failure to report professional misconduct – are wholly dissimilar to the case at bar.

However, both The Florida Bar and Respondent argued at the penalty hearing

that Standard 5.1 and its subparts should be considered in this case. TPH-64-65;

TPH-94.

Standard 5.1, "Failure to Maintain Personal Integrity," provides as follows:

Absent aggravating or mitigating circumstances, and upon application of the factors set out in Standard 3.0, the following sanctions are generally appropriate in cases involving commission of a criminal act that reflects adversely on the lawyer's honesty, trustworthiness, or fitness as a lawyer in other respects, **or in cases with conduct involving dishonesty, fraud, deceit, or misrepresentation**. (Emphasis added).

Respondent was found guilty of fraud, deceit, dishonesty or misrepresentation in

her personal capacity and unconnected with the practice of law, in violation of Rule

⁶ Standard 7.2 provides: "Suspension is appropriate when a lawyer knowingly engages in conduct that is a violation of a duty owed as a *professional* and causes injury or potential injury to a client, the public or the legal system" (emphasis added).

4-8.4(c). This is a failure to maintain personal integrity, as set forth in the title of the Standard.

The applicable Standard is 5.13 which provides: "Public reprimand is appropriate when a lawyer knowingly engages in any other conduct that involves dishonesty, fraud, deceit, or misrepresentation and that adversely reflects on the lawyer's fitness to practice law." However, the Referee ruled out a public reprimand as an appropriate penalty and found that a suspension was more appropriate. Standard 5.12 provides for suspension under the Standard 5.1 for failure to maintain personal integrity, Standard 5.12 states: "Suspension is appropriate when a lawyer knowingly engages in criminal conduct which is not included within Standard 5.11⁷ and that seriously adversely reflects on the lawyer's

Disbarment is appropriate when:

⁷ Standard 5.11 provides:

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